University of Montana

ScholarWorks at University of Montana

Graduate Student Theses, Dissertations, & Professional Papers

Graduate School

2024

AN EXAMINATION OF THE RELATION BETWEEN MEMORY SELF-EFFICACY AND WORKING MEMORY WITHIN THE COGNITIVE RESERVE FRAMEWORK

Genna Marie Mashinchi MA

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.umt.edu/etd

Part of the Clinical Psychology Commons, Cognitive Psychology Commons, and the Geropsychology Commons

Let us know how access to this document benefits you.

Recommended Citation

Mashinchi, Genna Marie MA, "AN EXAMINATION OF THE RELATION BETWEEN MEMORY SELF-EFFICACY AND WORKING MEMORY WITHIN THE COGNITIVE RESERVE FRAMEWORK" (2024). *Graduate Student Theses, Dissertations, & Professional Papers.* 11904.

https://scholarworks.umt.edu/etd/11904

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate School at ScholarWorks at University of Montana. It has been accepted for inclusion in Graduate Student Theses, Dissertations, & Professional Papers by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks at University of Montana. For more information, please contact scholarworks@mso.umt.edu.

AN EXAMINATION OF THE RELATION BETWEEN MEMORY SELF-EFFICACY AND WORKING MEMORY WITHIN THE COGNITIVE RESERVE FRAMEWORK

By

GENNA MARIE MASHINCHI

Master of Arts, University of Montana, Missoula, MT, 2021 Bachelor of Arts, California State University, Stanislaus, Turlock, CA, 2019

Dissertation

presented in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy in Psychology

The University of Montana Missoula, MT

July 2024

Approved by:

Scott Whittenburg, Dean of The Graduate School Graduate School

Robert Stuart Hall, PhD., Chair Psychology

Duncan G. Campbell, PhD. Psychology

Greg R. Machek, PhD. Psychology

Caitlin A. Martin-Wagar, PhD. Psychology

Kerry J. Haney, PharmD. Pharmacy

Acknowledgments

I wish to extend my appreciation to several individuals who provided me with a tremendous amount of support throughout the writing of this dissertation.

I would first like to thank my advisor, Dr. Stuart Hall, for his guidance and mentorship throughout this process. It has been such a joy to work with you and you have brought a great deal of enjoyment to my graduate work and graduate school experience.

I would also like to thank my committee for your insightful feedback about this project, which helped me to strengthen my thinking and elevate my work. In addition, I would like to thank my professors and classmates for your support as I completed this project.

I would like to thank my colleagues at the Rural Institute for Inclusive Communities for your support as I completed this project. Your support has meant the world to me. I would also like to thank Dr. Craig Ravesloot, Dr. Kelly Cotter, and Dr. Gary Williams for your mentorship and assistance in collecting pilot data for this dissertation. I learned so much from our conversations, which have sharpened my research skills.

In addition, I would like to thank my friends, namely Bridgette Bannick, Lauren Van Till, Amy Violante, Jennifer Villa, Emily Hicks, Kate Bratches, Stephanie Hicks, my Alzheimer's/Dementia Support Center family, and my Christ the King community. I am also thankful for the support my extended family had shown me as I completed this project. I am forever grateful for your continued encouragement as I complete my degree, and for always being excited about my work and my achievements.

Finally, I would like to extend my greatest thanks to my parents and my brothers: your daily encouragement has sustained me as I have pursued my dream of being a clinical neuropsychologist. Thank you for your endless support.

Abstract

Mashinchi, Genna, MA July 2024

Psychology

Abstract Title: Examination of the relation between memory self-efficacy and working memory within the cognitive reserve framework

Chair: Stuart Hall

Dementia has been found to negatively affect multiple aspects of cognitive functioning. Despite an increasing prevalence of cognitive decline, many aging adults do not experience reduced cognitive functioning. The reason as to why some experience cognitive decline and others do not is still unclear. One leading theory thought to explain this phenomenon is the cognitive reserve theory (CR), which proposes that certain lifestyle factors (e.g., educational attainment, occupational attainment, and leisure activity participation) prolong one's cognitive functioning and reduce the risk of cognitive decline. Memory self-efficacy (MSE), defined as one's beliefs in their memory ability, was found to be positively related to cognitive ability, but has not been studied in concert with CR factors. Additionally, working memory, which intersects memory and executive functioning, has seldom been examined in past CR studies. The present study sought to fill these gaps by constructing a hierarchical regression to analyze if MSE explains working memory variance over and above the existing CR factors. A sample of United States adults age 55+ were recruited via MTurk. MSE (β = .42, p < .001) explained variance in working memory over and above existing CR factors (i.e., educational attainment, occupational attainment, and leisure activity participation) in a hierarchical regression analysis, after controlling for age, depression, and anxiety, R^2 change = .17, F(1, 186) = 40.70, p < .001. These findings illustrate that MSE explains a large, unique portion of variance that is not explained by CR factors commonly thought to explain cognitive functioning.

Keywords: memory self-efficacy, cognitive reserve, working memory, aging, cognitive functioning

Table of Contents

Acknowledgments	ii
Abstract	iii
Examination of the Relation Between Memory Self-Efficacy and Working Memor	•
the Cognitive Reserve Framework	1
Cognitive Reserve (CR)	2
Existing CR Factors Educational Attainment.	3
Occupational Attainment.	3 4
Leisure Activity Participation.	4
Other CR Considerations	5
Anxiety and Depression.	5
How Anxiety and Depression Affect Cognitive Ability.	6
Memory Self-Efficacy (MSE)	7
Assessment of MSE	8
Judgments of Learning (JOLs).	8
Accuracy of JOLs.	9
Evidence of MSE on Cognitive Functioning Memory Ability.	10 10
Executive Functioning.	10
Working Memory.	11
Pilot Data	11
Present Study	12
Method	13
Participants	13
Design	14
Assessments and Measures	14
Demographics	14
Depression	15
Anxiety	16 16
Leisure Activity Participation Educational Attainment	17
Occupational Attainment	17
Memory Self-Efficacy	17
Working Memory Ability	18
Results	20
Participants	20
Assumption Checks	21
Hypothesis Tests	21
Exploratory Tests	23
Discussion	24
Findings	24
Limitations and Suggestions for Future Research	30

Conclusion	34
References	36
Table 1	53
Table 2	55
Table 3	60
Table 4	61
Table 5	63

Examination of the Relation Between Memory Self-Efficacy and Working Memory Within the Cognitive Reserve Framework

Individuals experience a higher likelihood of cognitive decline or dementia as they age, which can cause a decline in functional ability and independence (Aartsen et al., 2002; Fritsch et al., 2005). Dementia have been found to affect multiple aspects of cognitive functioning. Cognitive functioning is an umbrella term that describes multiple aspects of cognitive ability, including both memory and executive functioning (Fisher et al., 2019). Memory refers to the ability to retain information and recall it at a later time (Zlotnik & Vansintjan, 2019). Executive functioning refers to the cognitive ability that allows an individual to plan, organize, and judge situations for appropriate behavior (McCabe et al., 2010). The prevalence of cognitive decline has increased dramatically in recent years (Nichols et al., 2019). The percentage of individuals 65 + is becoming a larger segment in the world's population (He et al., 2015). This increase has been thought to result from longer life spans due to medical advancements, an increase in the world's population, and improved medical technology to detect cognitive decline (Aartsen et al., 2002; Crimmins, 2015; Fritsch et al., 2005; Nichols et al., 2019; Semenova & Stadtlander, 2016). Additionally, greater public awareness of dementia developed in the 1990s, which was largely led by pharmaceutical companies when drug treatments for dementia were developed, as well as by a greater societal interest in nutritional supplements (Alzheimer's Society, 2019, Messerer & Johansson, 2001). In a longitudinal global study that ran from 1990 to 2016, Nichols et al. (2019) reported 43.8 million individuals experienced cognitive decline in 2016, which is more than double the reported amount from the onset of the study (20.2 million in 1990).

Despite this overall growth, many aging adults do not experience cognitive decline. In fact, some research has examined "SuperAgers", a group of older adults age 80 or older that

feature extraordinary cognition relative to their age (Randolph, 2018). These SuperAgers have some brain features, such as cortical thickness, that are similar to those of 50 – 65-year-old individuals (Randolph, 2018). The reason as to why some older individuals experience cognitive decline and others do not is still unclear to researchers (Steinberg et al., 2013). Even within dementia, some individuals with dementia are able to function independently and retain their cognitive abilities longer than others with dementia, even if they have had dementia for the same amount of time (Steinberg et al., 2013). Similar to the reason why some experience dementia and others do not, the reason as to why some individuals with dementia maintain functional capacity longer than others with the same disease burden has baffled researchers. However, there are some leading theories that have attempted to explain this difference. One of these theories that has gained considerable attention in the literature is the cognitive reserve theory (CR).

Cognitive Reserve (CR)

The CR theory argues that specific lifestyle factors facilitate cognitive functioning and reduce the risk of cognitive decline (George, 2013; Stern, 2006). The CR theory might explain the difference between SuperAgers and those who experience dementia (George, 2013; Randolph, 2018; Stern, 2006). The CR theory has also been found to explain how individuals with dementia can retain their level of cognitive functioning, even when the pathology of dementia or Alzheimer's disease (e.g., beta-amyloid plaques, neurofibrillary tangles) is present (George, 2013; Stern, 2006). These specific factors, according to CR theory, would then help to explain why the rate of decline in cognitive functioning is not linear or equivalent for all individuals, and why some patients with Alzheimer's disease maintain functional capacity and independence for a longer period of time compared to others that have similar pathology present (Ho & Chan, 2005; Stern, 2012; Stern et al., 1999).

Along this same line of thought, the CR theory also supports the need for neuropsychological assessment despite technological advances in brain imaging, as the post-mortem neuropathological severity of Alzheimer's disease does not necessarily equate to the premortem pathological or behavioral severity of cognitive decline symptoms (Caselli et al., 2015; Lezak, 2012). Given that the CR factors are thought to contribute to the retention of cognitive functioning, CR is also thought to compensate, reroute, or cope in the face of negative brain changes by utilizing the brain's neuroplastic ability (Sobral et al., 2015; Stern, 2006, 2012; Vance et al., 2012).

Existing CR Factors

Although past researchers have proposed several CR factors, three have strong support in the literature: educational attainment, occupational attainment, and participation in leisure activities.

Educational Attainment. Perhaps the most-supported CR factor, educational attainment has been found to be positively associated with cognitive functioning (Aartsen et al., 2002).

Rodriguez et al. (2019) reported that those with higher educational attainment performed better on recognition tasks, verbal fluency tasks, working memory tasks, and processing speed tasks.

Further, Sobral and Paúl (2013)'s study — which identified a positive relationship between educational attainment and cognitive test scores in an Alzheimer's disease population — suggested that educational attainment serves as a protective factor even when cognitive decline has progressed, supporting its role as a CR factor. Additionally, another study found that this positive effect of education was found to be stronger for those with dementia than without (Staekenborg et al., 2020). This positive relation between educational attainment and cognitive functioning and a potential protective effect was also echoed by Esiri and Chance (2012), Evans

et al. (1997), and Fritsch et al. (2002). In terms of the extent of this positive relation, Evans et al. estimated that the risk of developing Alzheimer's disease decreased by 17% for each year of completed education.

Occupational Attainment. Similar to educational attainment, occupational attainment has also been found to have a positive relation with cognitive functioning, and thus, a negative relation with dementia risk, supporting its role as a CR factor (Stern, 1994). Occupational attainment is defined as an occupation's degree of cognitive difficulty. Operational definitions require participants to think of their longest-held job, and these jobs are coded for cognitive difficulty (Ghaffari et al., 2012; Kim et al., 2020; Qiu et al., 2003). Smyth et al. (2004) found that Alzheimer's disease patients were more likely to have previously held occupations that required low mental stimulation compared to those that did not have Alzheimer's disease, while Kim et al. (2020) and Qiu et al. (2004) found that "blue collar" workers (e.g., manual labor workers) faced a higher risk of cognitive impairment, although Kim et al. only found this for females and not males. Andel et al. (2005) found a protective effect against dementia risk for occupations that were cognitively demanding. Similarly, Seidler et al. (2004) conducted a dementia odds ratio analysis and reported that those who experienced high variability at work, high work independence, and high social demands at work each had a decreased odds ratio for dementia.

Leisure Activity Participation. The third prominent CR factor, leisure activity participation, is defined as engagement in an activity that is independent of fulfilling school, occupational, or living needs (Park et al., 2019; Verghese et al., 2006). Examples of common leisure activities include reading, completing puzzles, visiting friends, dancing, walking, and reading (Sobral & Paúl, 2013). Many studies have divided leisure activities into three different domains: cognitive (e.g., completing puzzles, reading), social (e.g., spending time with friends),

and physical (e.g., walking, dancing)— with the positive relation between cognitive leisure activities and cognitive functioning generating the greatest support in the literature (Fratiglioni & Wang, 2007; Niti et al., 2008; Sattler et al., 2012; Scarmeas et al., 2003).

Leisure activity engagement may bestow similar protective benefits that both education and occupational attainment are suggested to foster (Fratiglioni et al., 2004; Scarmeas et al., 2001; Sobral & Paúl, 2013; Verghese et al., 2003). Of note, some research has argued that leisure activities might explain CR variance that was previously thought to be explained by education (Jonaitis et al., 2013), supporting its position as a CR factor. Further support has been found in studies that reported positive findings attributed to leisure activities after controlling for education (Fratiglioni et al., 2004; Lindstrom et al., 2005; Verghese et al., 2003; Wilson et al., 2002). In addition, compared to occupational attainment and educational attainment, may be a more modifiable lifestyle factor during later life. When aging adults want to promote cognitive functioning, increasing their educational or occupational attainment might not be an option, whereas participation in leisure activities is an option. Even leisure activity participation that began in middle- to late-life has been found to be beneficial for cognitive functioning (Esiri & Chance, 2012; Krell-Roesch et al., 2017; Park et al., 2019; Vemuri et al., 2014). Further, this benefit attributed to late-life participation in activities has been found to be present even after controlling for education, number of years worked, and age (Leung et al., 2011; Trieber., 2010).

Other CR Considerations

Anxiety and Depression. In addition to educational attainment, occupational attainment, and leisure activity participation, the relations between psychosocial factors, particularly anxiety and depression, and cognitive decline have been investigated in a CR framework (Esiri & Chance, 2012). Like leisure activities, anxiety and depression can often be modifiable factors

that can change over time (Bomyea et al., 2015). Both anxiety and depression have been negatively associated with memory ability (Lukasik et al., 2019; Murphy & O'Leary, 2009) and positively associated with dementia risk (Burton et al., 2012; Diniz et al., 2013; Santabárbara et al., 2020). Research has looked at the relations between various memory domains and each of these psychosocial variables independently, finding a negative relation between anxiety and working memory (Lukasik et al., 2019), as well as a negative relation between depression and immediate memory (Evans et al., 1997), delayed memory (Christensen et al., 1997), verbal memory (Biringer et al., 2005), visual memory (Biringer et al., 2005; Murphy & O'Leary, 2009), and working memory (Christensen et al., 1997).

Regarding CR, recognizing and promptly treating depression or anxiety can lead to a reduced risk of developing dementia, which has been argued to be indicative of CR (Barnes & Yaffe, 2011; Esiri & Chance, 2012). Similarly, Evans et al. (2019) found that older individuals without depression or anxiety scored higher on a cognitive assessment and a measure of CR, compared to older individuals with depression or anxiety. Interestingly, both Geerlings et al. (1999) and O'Shea et al. (2014) found that the presence of depression in individuals with high educational attainment — which are thought to be individuals with higher CR as educational attainment is widely regarded as a CR factor (Aartsen et al., 2002) — displayed greater cognitive decline and greater mortality rates than people without depression. Thus, depression, and anxiety, could negatively affect cognition, so much so that even CR factors are not beneficial in reducing the risk of cognitive decline. Therefore, it is important to examine the avenue with which depression and anxiety affects cognitive ability.

How Anxiety and Depression Affect Cognitive Ability. When considering how anxiety and depression might affect cognitive ability, two key explanations have been proposed.

Social Isolation. Anxiety and depression have been found to be positively related to social isolation (García-Peňa, 2013; Lukasik et al., 2019), and social isolation has been found to be negatively associated with cognitive functioning in numerous studies (DiNapoli et al., 2014; Lukasik et al., 2019; Shankar et al., 2013). Support for this explanation can be found in the CR theory, as social activity participation has been thought to build reserve due to its association with better cognitive ability (Bennett et al., 2006).

Effort and Attention. Past research has supported an explanation proposing that anxiety and depression reduces one's concentration and capacity due to internal distractions, a decrease in motivation, and a reduced amount of effort put into completing tasks (Hartlage et al., 1993; Robinson et al., 2013). These symptoms are in line with the DSM-5 criteria for both anxiety and depression, such as impaired concentration (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). Therefore, tasks that require more effort will display worse performance due to anxiety and depression (Hartlage et al., 1993; Maloney et al., 2014).

Memory Self-Efficacy (MSE)

The idea that depression causes amotivation in accomplishing tasks is similar to Bandura's self-efficacy theory, which refers to an individual's self-perception of their ability to organize and execute tasks under given conditions (Bandura, 1989, 1997; Mashinchi & Ravesloot, 2021). According to the self-efficacy theory, the self-efficacy beliefs result from both external (e.g., environmental/societal influences and beliefs such as stereotypes) and internal (e.g., biological, behavioral, and cognitive) factors (Bandura, 1997). Since past research has supported the correlation between self-efficacy on performance, Bandura hypothesized that those with low self-efficacy perform poorer on tasks, compared to those with higher self-efficacy (Bandura, 1989; Beaudoin & Desrichard, 2011). Numerous reasons for this difference have been

hypothesized by Bandura, including less investment and commitment in tasks or goals; lower goal setting; a lack of effort, persistence, and motivation; and higher anxiety (Beaudoin & Desrichard, 2011; Lalitha & Aswartha Reddy, 2021).

The concept of memory self-efficacy (MSE), defined as the beliefs an individual holds about their memory ability, stems from Bandura's self-efficacy theory (Beaudoin & Desrichard, 2011; Hertzog et al., 1987). Similar to self-efficacy, depression has been negatively related with MSE scores (Cipolli et al., 1996; Sawin, 2021). Thus, a lack of confidence, and the presence of depression and anxiety, can play a key role in low levels of MSE. In addition to the internal and external factors described above, a third factor, previous memory performances, has also been proposed to affect MSE, as previous memory performances serve as a guide and predictor of future performance (Beaudoin & Desrichard, 2011). MSE is an important construct within metamemory that has been used to explain the cognitive decline that appears with aging (Beaudoin & Desrichard, 2011; Hertzog et al., 1987). MSE can be subdivided into two categories: global MSE and local MSE. Global MSE refers to beliefs about memory ability in a general sense, while local MSE refers to task-specific MSE (Beaudoin & Desrichard, 2011; Lachman, 1993).

Assessment of MSE

Judgments of Learning (JOLs). In line with the additional third factor proposed by Beaudoin and Desrichard (2011), one way to assess for MSE is through task-specific performance predictions, also referred to as judgments of learning (JOLs; Hertzog & Hulsch, 2000; Hertzog et al., 1990). More specifically, JOLs are item-level predictions of one's perceived confidence and ability to recall an item's task at a later time (e.g., "How confident are

you that you will remember to buy milk on the way home from work?"; Hertzog & Hulsch, 2000).

With this definition, Hertzog et al. (1990) proposed that there are three key components that make up the foundation of a JOL: (a) global and local MSE, (b) an appraisal of the memory task, and (c) an unspecified set of cognitive processes that converts one's MSE into an estimate by mentally considering where one would fall on a bell curve distribution based on the task assessment. This definition is supported by a study by Meeks et al. (2007) which suggested that one's MSE may adjust how the individual approaches and performs a task. Given these foundational components, there can be three reasons for inaccurate performance predictions: (a) inaccurate global or local MSE, (b) inaccurate appraisal of the memory task, and (c) inaccurate estimation of one's MSE that was created by mentally considering where one would fall on a bell curve distribution.

Accuracy of JOLs. Speaking to the ways in which one's MSE can fluctuate, past research has reasoned that older adults should make more accurate predictions compared to younger adults because insight into cognitive ability, limits, and functioning increase over the lifespan (Kuhn, 2000; Irak & Çapan, 2018). Despite this, there is great discrepancy in the literature regarding the accuracy of JOLs for both older and younger adults. As noted in the literature, MSE might affect performance predictions more for older adults than for younger adults (Pearman & Trujillo, 2013; Serra et al., 2008). Serra et al. (2008) found that older adults are underconfident in their memory predictions, while Pearman and Trujillo (2013) found that older adults were not alone in their underconfident memory predictions, as younger adults were also underconfident. In sum, individuals, particularly older adults, are inconsistent in their memory predictions (Cauvin et al., 2019).

Evidence of MSE on Cognitive Functioning

Similar to the appeal of leisure activities as a malleable factor that can influence one's CR, one's MSE can be malleable and can influence cognitive ability in different domains (Hess & Hinson, 2006).

Memory Ability. MSE has been found to be positively related to memory task performance for older adults, such that higher MSE is associated with better memory performance (Lalitha & Aswartha Reddy, 2021; Pearman & Trujillo, 2013; Sawin, 2021). A study by de Oliveira et al. (2015) found that memory predictions were positively related to immediate memory, and this relation was not influenced by sociodemographic variables. The positive relation between MSE and memory performance has been echoed when both laboratory and simulated-naturalistic memory tasks were used (Turvey et al., 2000; West et al., 1996).

Executive Functioning. Compared to research examining memory ability and MSE, little to no studies have directly examined MSE in relation to executive functioning. Mäntylä et al. (2010) conducted a study with both young adults and middle-aged adults and found that executive functioning ability was positively related to perceived memory ability. Zahodne et al. (2015) examined self-efficacy beliefs in relation to educational attainment and several cognitive domains, including executive functioning (e.g., attention, inhibition abilities), in a nationally representative adult sample. Higher self-efficacy beliefs were positively associated with executive functioning. Additionally, interaction analyses revealed that individuals with low educational attainment, but high self-efficacy beliefs, performed similarly to those with high educational attainment and high self-efficacy on executive functioning tasks, illustrating that self-efficacy beliefs can buffer against the negative effects low educational attainment can have

on executive functioning, given that low educational attainment was independently found to be related to worse cognitive functioning.

Working Memory. Working memory is defined as the ability to actively hold and manipulate information for a brief amount of time (Miyake & Shah, 1999). Working memory has been described as both a construct of memory and executive functioning (Cowan, 2008; McCabe et al., 2010) and has been distinguished from the construct of short-term memory due to its executive functioning feature of information manipulation, such as reordering numbers or completing mathematical problems (Aben et al., 2012). Working memory has been measured in multiple ways, such as with mental arithmetic or digit span tasks (Wechsler, 2008).

Despite past research exploring the relations between MSE and memory ability, and MSE and executive functioning, little research has examined the relations between MSE and working memory, specifically. Hoffman and Schraw (2007) investigated the influence of self-efficacy beliefs and working memory capacity on mathematical problem-solving performance, response time, and efficiency, and found that self-efficacy was beneficial as demands on working memory increased. These findings proposed that one's ability to efficiently and strategically solve problems increased with self-efficacy. However, this appears to be the only study investigating the relations between MSE and working memory. When MSE and working memory have been investigated in the same study, they are typically both predictor variables of performance, and the relations between the two of them are not examined (Zamani & Pouratashi, 2018).

Pilot Data

Pilot data was collected for this study by Mashinchi and Ravesloot (2021), which examined the relations between MSE, working memory, and community participation. Results

from 203 participants revealed that MSE was positively related to working memory ability and engagement in the community. However, this pilot data did not examine the relation between working memory and MSE role in concert with existing CR factors, and thus, cannot speak to MSE's role within the CR framework.

Present Study

In addition to the fact that relations between MSE and working memory are understudied, additional gaps in the literature are apparent. Although there is existing literature examining CR and memory performance and MSE and memory performance, no study has examined these concepts (CR and MSE) in relation with one another. A study by Simon and Schmitter-Edgecombe (2016) examined both CR and MSE in independent models when examining the relation between memory performance and the use of compensatory strategies, but did not examine how MSE can be related to CR. In addition, Simon and Schmitter-Edgecombe did not use leisure activity participation or occupational attainment as factors of CR. Thus, by the author's knowledge, no study has examined MSE within the CR framework.

The present study sought to fill this gap in the literature by constructing a hierarchical regression to analyze if MSE explains variance over and above the existing CR factors. Two hypotheses are as follows:

- MSE will explain statistically significant variance in working memory ability in a
 regression analysis in concert with existing CR factors (i.e., educational
 attainment, occupational attainment, and leisure activity participation), after
 controlling for age, depression, and generalized anxiety.
- 2. MSE will explain statistically significant variance in working memory ability over and above existing CR factors (e.g., educational attainment, occupational

attainment, and leisure activity participation) in a hierarchical regression analysis, after controlling for age, depression, and generalized anxiety.

Method

Participants

The first twenty-eight recruited participants were used as pilot data, and small changes to the Qualtrics survey form were made based on their results (e.g., wording, typos). These twenty-eight participants were not included in the final analysis. After pilot testing, three hundred and seventy-eight potential participants logged in to the study. Thirty-two potential participants did not go past the consent form. One hundred and eight participants were excluded from the final analysis because more than 5% of their data were missing. Thirty-four participants were removed because they were under 55 years old. Seven participants were removed from the analysis due to poor data quality, as indicated by these participants failing an attention check and from random responding. Although some participants indicated that they were experiencing effects from a mood/psychiatric condition, a medical condition, or were previously unconscious and sought treatment, these participants were included to increase the external validity of the study and to speak to the wide range of individuals that make up the older adult population. Thus, the final sample was made up of 197 United States residents age 55 or older.

Participants were recruited through Amazon MTurk, an online survey platform, and were required to have a HIT rate of 95% or greater, indicating strong work quality. A \$0.57 monetary incentive was given to participants in exchange for their time. A post-hoc power analysis determined this sample yielded an actual power of .99 with the ability to reject the null hypothesis if an effect size of .15 was found. This effect size was chosen based on the results

from the pilot data, and to ensure a small effect size would be able to be detected (Mashinchi et al., 2021).

Design

Seven predictor variables were used in the hierarchical regression analysis to address Hypothesis 1 and 2. These variables were: age, occupational attainment, educational attainment, leisure activity participation, depression levels, anxiety levels, and MSE. Step 1 of the regression includes age, depression, and anxiety as the predictor variables. Step 2 of the regression includes age, depression, anxiety, educational attainment, occupational attainment, and leisure activity participation as the predictor variables. Step 3 includes age, depression, anxiety, educational attainment, occupational attainment, leisure activity participation, and MSE as the predictor variables. The dependent variable was working memory ability, which was operationally defined by the total digit span task score (a combined score of forward, backwards, and sequencing).

To examine which variables predicted MSE, a multiple linear regression was conducted. Predictor variables included anxiety, depression, age, educational attainment, occupational attainment, and leisure activity participation. The dependent variable was MSE.

Assessments and Measures

Methodology for this study was inspired by Mashinchi and Ravesloot (2021) and Mashinchi et al. (2021), which served as pilot studies for this dissertation.

Demographics

Demographic information regarding age, gender, race, ethnicity, socioeconomic status, disability status, and health status was collected from each participant. Participants were provided a text box to self-report their age, gender, race, and ethnicity. To assess socioeconomic status, participants were asked, "Thinking about your life overall, which of the following best

describes your yearly total household income before taxes?" and were provided an ordinal scale for their answer (see Table 2 for options).

To assess disability status, participants completed Washington Group Short Set of Questions on Disability (Center for Disease Control and Prevention [CDC], 2015) which queries any difficulty with seeing, hearing, walking, remembering/concentrating, communicating, and/or completing self-care tasks. The present study analyzed the data for the remembering/concentrating and completing self-care tasks items because they measure cognition and overall functioning, respectively (CDC, 2015).

In addition, participants were asked to indicate if they had noticed their ability to remember things had changed over the years (yes/no). Further, participants completed a measure that inquired health history and asked participants if they had been diagnosed with a serious medical condition (e.g., diabetes, lupus, cancer), a neurological condition (seizures, epilepsy, stroke), a psychiatric/mood condition, a substance use disorder, and if they were currently experiencing effects from these conditions using a yes/no answer option. Additionally, participants were asked if they had ever been knocked unconscious and if they were treated by a medical professional for this unconscious event.

Depression

All participants were asked to complete the Patient Health Questionnaire-Eight-Item (PHQ-8; Kroenke et al., 2009), which assessed their experience of depression. The PHQ-8 asks participants to indicate the frequency with which they experienced several depressive symptoms (e.g., feeling down or hopeless, experiencing little interest or pleasure in doing things) within the two weeks prior to completing the survey. Participants indicated their experience using a 4-point frequency scale, where 0 = not at all and 3 = nearly every day. Thus, a total PHQ-8 score ranges

from 0-24, with scores greater than or equal to 10 indicating the respondent is experiencing a probable major depressive episode. As illustrated in a validity study by Kroenke and Spitzer (2002), a score greater than or equal to 10 had a sensitivity of 99% and a specificity of 92% for a major depressive episode.

Anxiety

All participants were asked to complete the Generalized Anxiety Disorder-Seven-Item (GAD-7; Spitzer et al., 2006), which assessed their experience of anxiety. The GAD-7 asks participants to indicate the frequency with which they have experienced several anxiety symptoms (e.g., feeling nervous, not being able to stop or control their worrying) within the two weeks prior to completing the survey, using a 4-point frequency scale, ranging from 0 = not at all to 3 = nearly every day. Thus, a total GAD-7 score ranges from 0-21, with a score greater than or equal to 10 indicating a possible experience of generalized anxiety. A score greater than or equal to 10 on the GAD-7 has demonstrated strong specificity (82%) and sensitivity (89%) for a diagnosis of generalized anxiety disorder (Spitzer et al., 2006).

Leisure Activity Participation

All participants were asked to indicate their participation in leisure activities. Examples of cognitive (e.g., reading, doing puzzles, doing art projects), social (e.g., having dinner or spending time with friends), and physical leisure activities (e.g., walking, hiking, playing golf) were provided for participants, but participants were asked to report any activity that they considered to be a leisure activity, even if it was not listed in the example. In a text box, participants were asked to write the total number of leisure activities they engage in on a regular basis (e.g., a given month). These data were then converted to a scaled variable with 0 =

participating in none of the areas, 1 = participating in one of the areas, 2 = participating in two of the areas, and 3 = participating in all three of the areas.

Educational Attainment

Participants were asked to indicate their highest level of education using the following 10-point ordinal scale: middle school or less = 1, less than high school = 2, high school/GED = 3; some college or technical training = 4, associate or technical degree = 5, bachelor's degree = 6, bachelor's degree plus other courses, but not enough to qualify for a master's degree = 7; master's degree = 8; master's degree plus other courses, but not enough to qualify for a doctorate degree = 9; doctorate degree = 10.

Occupational Attainment

All participants were asked to think about their primary life occupation and indicate their occupational attainment using the following 4-point ordinal scale, inspired from the Oklahoma Premorbid Intelligence Estimate (Scott et al., 1996): unemployed = 1, foreman, laborer, farmer, or service occupation = 2, clerical/sales occupation = 3; professional, technical, administrative, or managerial occupation = 4. Asking participants to think about their primary life occupation allowed them to participate even if they were retired.

Memory Self-Efficacy (MSE)

In line with Beaudoin and Desrichard's (2011) suggestion that MSE can be assessed through performance prediction JOLs, the present study asked participants to indicate their MSE on twelve items that pertained to the working memory task participants were asked to complete: 4 MSE items for digit span forward, 4 items for digit span backward, and 4 items for digit span sequencing (see Table 1). These items were completed before participants were presented with the working memory task. This MSE assessment was inspired by the Memory Self-Efficacy

Questionnaire (Berry et al., 1989) and has similar psychometric properties to the MSE assessment used in Mashinchi and Ravesloot (2021). The present study found that this MSE measure was highly reliable ($\alpha = .95$), with alpha levels for each of the conditions as follows: forward ($\alpha = .85$), backward ($\alpha = .86$), and sequencing (.90). See Table 1 for the MSE measure.

Similar to the Memory Self-Efficacy Questionnaire, MSE was assessed by asking participants if they can perform the task with a binary 'yes' or 'no' answer option. If yes was indicated, participants were asked to rate their confidence ranging from 10% to 100% confidence in ten-unit increments. MSE scores for the present study were calculated by summing the number of 'yes' responses that were made with at least 20% confidence, a procedure identical to Berry et al. (1989). Thus, MSE scores ranged from 0 to 12. Mean MSE scores and mean confidence ratings for each item are provided in Table 1.

Working Memory Ability

To measure working memory ability, the present study used a digit span task. This digit span task was similar to the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale - Fourth Edition Working Memory Index (WAIS-IV; Wechsler, 2008). In the present study, the digit strings presented to participants differed from the digit strings used in the WAIS-IV, but the procedure was similar. The digits for this study's task were presented on screen, making this a visual working memory task, whereas the WAIS-IV's Digit Span Task is a verbal memory task.

Mashinchi et al. (2021), which served as pilot data for this study, sought to examine if the performance from the online digit span measure differed from the WAIS-IV's Digit Span normative data, which was collected in-person. Results were based on 159 participants and indicated that digit span scores did not differ for the 65-69 or 70-75 age range. There were not enough participants to make comparisons for the 75 - 79 or 80 - 85 age ranges. The 55- 59 age

range scored poorer on the online digit span task compared to the WAIS-IV normative data, although this is hypothesized to be due to a methodological issue, as participants were asked to type a space in between each number of their digit string, which might have been confusing or might have taxed the working memory ability for some participants. The present study will build from this measure to not include these unnecessary and confusing instructions.

In the present study, participants were asked to remember a set of numbers under three varied conditions: forward, backward, and sequencing. In the first condition, digit span forward, participants were instructed to recall the numbers in the same order in which they were presented. In the second condition, digit span backward, participants were instructed to recall the numbers in the reverse order in which they were presented (e.g., if presented 2-3, asked to recall it as 3-2). In the third condition, digit span sequencing, participants were asked to recall the digits presented in order from least to greatest in value (e.g., if presented 4-1-8, asked to recall it as 1-4-8).

The string of numbers was presented one-by-one in the middle of the screen for one second. The numbers and timing were programmed to auto-advance on the screen by a timer feature. Once all digits of a string were presented, the screen changed to include a text box in which participants were instructed to type in each number. The text box was programmed to recognize the correct answer. If correct, participants auto-advanced to a second trial with the same amount of digit strings. If correct again, participants auto-advanced to a digit string with an additional digit included. If participants were incorrect in the first trial, they still auto-advanced to a second trial with the same amount of digit strings. However, if the first trial was incorrect, and the second trial was incorrect, then participants auto-advanced to the next condition (e.g.,

backward). Scores were summed automatically by the software. Total digit span scores could range from 0-48, with each condition's score ranging from 0-16.

Procedure

The Institutional Review Board at the University of Montana approved this study prior to data collection. Data were collected online using a Qualtrics-based survey that was then posted on MTurk, an online platform for data collection. First, participants reviewed the informed consent and provided written consent to participating in the study. Once consent was given, all participants completed the MSE questionnaire. Next, all participants completed the working memory task. Then, participants completed the demographics questionnaire that included the health history survey and the disability status survey, followed by the PHQ-8 and the GAD-7. Participants then completed a short survey about community participation as part of an outside study. Finally, they received a debriefing form, outlining the purpose of the study. They then received a numerical code, which could be entered into MTurk to award the monetary incentive for their participation.

Results

Participants

Participants' ages ranged from 55 to 84 years (M = 66.26, SD = 5.99) and were predominantly female (73%) and Caucasian (89%). Fifty-two percent of participants had an education greater than a bachelor's degree. Eighty percent of participants reported that they noticed that their ability to remember things had changed over the years. Eighty-nine percent of participants reported that they did not have difficulty completing self-care tasks, while 55% of participants reported that they did not have difficulty remembering or concentrating. Fifteen percent of participants indicated a potential diagnosis of anxiety from the GAD-7 screener, while

fifteen percent of participants indicated a potential diagnosis of depression from the PHQ-8 screener. See Table 2 for the full demographic statistics of the sample.

Assumption Checks

The assumptions of linearity, normally distributed errors, and uncorrelated errors were assessed for all variables. In accordance with Fox (2016), skewness values that were greater than an absolute value of 1 were transformed. This led to the following 4 variables being transformed using a log transformation: depression, anxiety, occupational attainment, and leisure activity participation. The transformed variables are what were used in the final analysis. After being transformed, all skewness values were less than 1, with the exception of the value for leisure activity participation (-1.887). Thus, these data for these analyses deviate somewhat from a normal distribution, warranting a degree of caution for interpreting the significance of inferential test statistics.

Additionally, a collinearity analysis was conducted to examine any problematic correlations between predictor variables. In accordance with Denis (2016), which stated that a VIF score of 10 suggests that a study's parameter β was not being precisely estimated due to a large standard error, the present study used a VIF cutoff score of 10. VIF scores for all variables passed this cutoff before (all VIFs < 3.27) and after the transformation of skewed variables (all VIFs < 2.73) for both regression analyses.

Hypothesis Tests

A bivariate Pearson r correlation matrix was created to examine the relations between variables. MSE was strongly related to working memory ability (r = .40, p < .001). Working memory ability was negatively correlated to depression (r = -.20, p = .005) and anxiety (r = -.21, p = .003). Further, occupational attainment was positively related to both educational attainment

(r = .30, p < .001), and negatively related to depression (r = .17, p = .02). Depression was strongly related to anxiety (r = .79, p < .001). All other correlations were not statistically significant (ps > .05). See Table 3 for the full correlation matrix.

To address Hypotheses 1 and 2, a hierarchical linear regression was conducted to investigate how well MSE predicted working memory ability after controlling for age, depression, and anxiety.

Step 1 of the model included age, anxiety, and depression as predictors. Step 2 included age, anxiety, depression, educational attainment, occupational attainment, and leisure activity participation as predictors, with a significant F change indicating that the inclusion of the predictors educational attainment, occupational attainment, and leisure activity participation explained variance over and above the predictors age, anxiety, and depression in Step 1. Step 3 included age, anxiety, depression, educational attainment, occupational attainment, leisure activity participation, and MSE, with a significant F change indicating that the inclusion of the predictor MSE in Step 3 explained variance over and above the predictors age, anxiety, depression, educational attainment, occupational attainment, and leisure activity participation in Step 2. See Table 4 and for a visual representation of the hierarchical regression. Means and standard deviations are presented in Table 2.

Step 1 of the model was statistically significant and revealed that age, anxiety, and depression accounted for 5.1% of the variance in working memory performance, F(3, 190) = 3.41, p = .02, adjusted $R^2 = .04$. The beta weights and significance values, presented in Table 4, indicate which variables contributed most to predicting working memory performance when age, anxiety, and depression were entered together as predictors. With this combination of predictors,

none of the predictor variables contributed to predicting working memory performance at a statistically significant level.

Step 2 of the model was not statistically significant, R^2 change = .01, F(3, 187) = 0.70, p = .56, adjusted $R^2 = .03$, as 1% of additional variance was accounted for by educational attainment, occupational attainment, and leisure activity participation. Further, the entire group of variables at Step 2 did not predict working memory performance at a statistically significant rate, F(6, 187) = 2.05, p = .06.

The addition of MSE in Step 3 improved the model, R^2 change = .17, F(1, 186) = 40.70, p < .001. Similarly, the entire group of variables at Step 3 accounted for a significant amount of variance in working memory performance, F(7, 186) = 7.94, p < .001, adjusted $R^2 = .20$, as 17% additional variance was accounted for by MSE. With this combination of predictors, MSE ($\beta = .42$, p < .001) was the only variable that contributed to predicting working memory performance at a statistically significant level (see Table 4).

Inspection of a correlational matrix of the variables (see Table 3) did not warrant a mediation analysis.

Exploratory Tests

To examine which variables predicted MSE, an exploratory multiple linear regression was conducted. The entire group of variables did not account for a significant amount of variance in MSE, F(6, 187) = 0.87, p = .52, $R^2 = .03$, adjusted $R^2 = -.004$. With this combination of predictors, none of the predictors contributed to predicting MSE at a statistically significant level (see Table 5).

Inspection of a correlational matrix of the variables (see Table 3) did not warrant a mediation analysis.

Discussion

Findings

The average performance on the digit span working memory task was 32.17 (SD = 7.94). This performance was above average, compared to the normed WAIS-IV data (Wechsler, 2008). Thus, it appears that our study's participants performed at a rate that was above average, compared to other same-age peers. Further, examining the distribution of MSE from the MSE questionnaire revealed that on average, participants felt more confident at completing digit span tasks with a shorter digit string, compared to a task with a longer digit string. This finding was expected. Further, of those that reported that they could complete the task for the longest digit strings in each digit span conditions, they rated their ability with high confidence (90-100%). Thus, it appears that if an individual felt they could complete the more difficult digit span tasks, then they also felt very confident that they could do so.

Consistent with the first hypothesis, MSE was positively related to and explained statistically significant variance in working memory ability when examined in concert with existing CR factors (e.g., educational attainment, occupational attainment, and leisure activity participation) and after controlling for age, depression, and anxiety. In fact, MSE was the only variable that explained this variance. Not only did it explain this variance, but it explained a large portion of this variance, as indicated by the beta value (β = .42). This finding is both novel and important, as this is the first time MSE has been examined in relation to working memory ability. Further, the present study was the first to revise an existing MSE measure to better capture MSE related to working memory ability. The present study, and its adaption to the MSE measure, illustrates the importance of the relation between one's subjective belief in their working memory ability and their objective working memory performance, and supports past literature

that found a positive relation between subjective beliefs and objective performance in a healthy older adult sample (Mäntylä et al., 2010; Pearman & Trujillo, 2013; Lalitha & Aswartha Reddy, 2021; Sawin, 2021; Zahodne et al., 2015). The findings of the present study also further support for Bandura's self-efficacy theory (Bandura, 1989; Bandura, 1997). Given that Bandura's self-efficacy theory had not been examined in relation to working memory ability, the present study's novelty can contribute to this gap in the literature.

Consistent with the second hypothesis, MSE explained statistically significant variance in working memory performance over and above existing CR factors (e.g., educational attainment, occupational attainment, and leisure activity participation) in a hierarchical regression analysis, after controlling for age, depression, and anxiety. In fact, MSE was the only variable in the complete model that achieved statistical significance. It was surprising that none of the existing CR factors explained variance in working memory ability, as suggested by the overwhelming support of these factors in the CR literature. It is possible that this was due to the homogeneity of the sample, which made it difficult to detect differences among educational attainment, occupational attainment, and leisure activity participation. It is also possible that this was due to errors in collecting the leisure activity participation data, which is discussed in detail in the Limitations and Suggestions for Future Research section below. Additionally, the findings might support other research reporting nonsignificant relations between CR factors (i.e., educational attainment, occupational attainment, leisure activity participation), and cognitive functioning (Aartsen et al., 2002; Boyle et al., 2021; Iwasa et al., 2012; Miech et al., 2002; Suemoto et al., 2022). The present study's findings illustrate that MSE explains a large, unique portion of variance that is not explained by factors commonly thought to explain memory ability. The present study's results can serve as a key first step in supporting MSE's role within the CR

framework and could potentially illustrate that the CR literature has neglected to identify a key factor, MSE, that can help to explain working memory ability.

Given that this is the first study that has examined memory self-efficacy (MSE) in concert with CR factors, it is hard to pin down a definitive definition of how MSE fits into a cognitive reserve framework. The literature appears to be mixed in the use of the term "cognitive reserve." Some research (Stern, 2013) takes a very narrow approach to the term "cognitive reserve" that can be thought of as a literal "reserve", in which lifelong factors (e.g., educational attainment) build up benefits that are later used when the brain is vulnerable to the risk of neurological changes due to injury or age-related changes. Other researchers take a broader perspective on the term "cognitive reserve", and describe any factor that has been shown to improve cognitive functioning in older adults as a cognitive reserve factor. More recent literature leans towards late-life interventions, such as learning new skills, which have been found to be beneficial for cognitive ability in older adults (Esiri & Chance, 2012; Krell-Roesch et al., 2011; Park et al., 2019; Venmuri et al., 2017). Thus, there is no consensus about the limits to what is included as "cognitive reserve" in the literature, leaving room for interpretation.

Within the narrower interpretation of the definition of cognitive reserve might be an argument that interventions, such as treatment of depression (Esiri & Chance, 2012), should not be considered cognitive reserve factors, but instead could be considered as beneficial to cognition within a cognitive reserve framework. Within this framework viewpoint, cognitive reserve factors is a term reserved for factors such as educational attainment that might build a reserve, while the term "within a cognitive reserve framework" removes more indirect factors, such as depression treatment, by a degree, but also acknowledges how it is in the same spirit in being beneficial to cognition. Given this consideration, the present study's manuscript will

change this wording to reflect how MSE might be considered within a cognitive reserve framework, which appears to be more appropriate given the lack of knowledge about the relation between cognitive reserve and MSE. The position I took in the dissertation is how MSE and depression are related, which served as a basis for introducing MSE in the context of cognitive reserve.

Further, although MSE can be considered transient, MSE beliefs are not necessarily created in a moment-by-moment event, and instead can be thought to be beliefs developed over time. The role of stereotypes on beliefs can directly apply to MSE. For example, if a young child is told that older adults have poor memory due to their age, and this belief continues to be reinforced throughout life due to societal stereotypes, this belief is one that has been developed over time. At the time this child becomes an older adult, these beliefs might be well-instilled, and could affect their performance predictions in participating in a study identical to the present study. Similar to depression and its argument for being considered within the cognitive reserve framework, MSE can be modifiable, and can have an impact on cognitive performance due to doubt, less investment in tasks, and amotivation (Beaudoin & Desrichard, 2011).

In sum, the different approaches taken by the two different perspectives illustrate the openness to interpretation that is found in the current cognitive reserve literature. More narrowly, it is specifically a reserve that is gathered throughout time and aids in the ability to cope in the face of neurological changes. More broadly, it is any factor or skill that can promote cognitive functioning and reduce the risk of cognitive decline. Overall, these findings suggest that one's subjective beliefs are a key variable to consider when examining working memory ability. This result can greatly add to researchers' understanding of important contributors to working memory ability in an older adult population. MSE is a factor that should be considered when

working memory is examined in an aging population given that a) working memory is a domain used frequently in everyday life (e.g., remembering a phone number, staying on task, and remembering multi-step directions to a location or to a recipe; Cowan, 2014), b) working memory ability is thought to diminish with age (Klencklen et al., 2017), and c) the strength of the present study's findings.

Additionally, these findings might also indirectly provide support for the age stereotype threat literature, which argues that negative societal stereotypes about age can interfere with an individual's ability to perform to their normal standard, a phenomenon known as stereotype threat (Steele & Aronson, 1995). In line with Bandura's self-efficacy theory and the age stereotype threat literature, low MSE might stem from one internalizing external, negative societal stereotypes about age from Western cultures (Hess, 2005; Inzlicht & Schmader, 2012; McDonald-Miszczak et al., 1999). Inzlicht and Schmader (2012) noted that those with low MSE are more negatively impacted by stereotype threat compared to those with high MSE, illustrating that MSE moderates age-related stereotype threat. This moderation is thought to be due to the characteristics that Bandura hypothesized are attributes of those with low self-efficacy: less investment in the tasks; lower expectations in task performance; less effort, persistence, and motivation; lower goals set (Beaudoin & Desrichard, 2011; Desrichard & Kopetz, 2005; Inzlicht & Schmader, 2012). It is possible that the present study can serve as a link in understanding the effects age-related stereotype threat can have on the older adult population.

Moreover, because MSE is a changeable factor, our findings provide support for another changeable factor that can be related to one's memory ability, and which can be improved at any age. These findings suggest that interventions that work to increasing MSE might also increase working memory ability, and vice versa. Possible intervention strategies might include exploring

one's awareness of stereotype threat by analyzing how much an individual has bought into negative age-related stereotypes prominent in society. Further, other interventions include psychoeducation about a) normal age-related changes in memory compared to abnormal agerelated changes in memory ability, such as dementia, and b) the neuropathological processes of working memory, such as the limits of working memory and how to increase one's working memory capacity. From these psychoeducation interventions, another intervention regarding the practice of the use of compensatory strategies (e.g., a calendar, a notebook, alarms) can help one to remember to carry out tasks. Additionally, brochures, workshops, or lectures designed to disseminate findings about the correlation between memory ability and healthy aging factors such as diet, social support, and sleep patterns — can help aging individuals better understand the factors that might affect their memory functioning. Similarly, psychoeducation interventions that focus on the relation between memory and external health factors — such as stress, anxiety, depression, and other health issues — can also educate and motivate individuals to modify their lifestyle to increase their memory ability, such as by reducing stressors or seeking psychotherapy.

Based on these findings and these recommended interventions, it is recommended that neuropsychologists consider including a measure of MSE if a patient's working memory ability is deficit. If one's working memory performance is low, and their MSE is also low, addressing the low MSE with interventions in effort to increase it, such as psychoeducation about stereotype threat and normal age-related changes, might reveal increases in working memory ability in the future. Other interventions that both researchers and neuropsychologists might wish to consider is using the TOMM, which is a performance based-validity effort test that is disguised as a memory test, as an easy memory test to build up MSE before completing more difficult tasks.

Another similar option is to use an errorless learning intervention, in which the difficulty level of a test is designed so that a participant learns the skills necessary for a task in a positively-reinforcing way, so that they do not resort to completing the task with trial-and-error or random responding (Medalia, 2002). In this way, an errorless learning intervention can help a participant learn how to complete a memory task in a way that can build their MSE. Given that there are few modifiable factors identified in the literature, this finding is of great importance.

Finally, the exploratory analysis revealed that the predictor variables did not explain MSE variance at a statistically significant level. This was surprising, given that Bandura's self-efficacy theory suggests similarities between depression and anxiety's symptoms of amotivation to complete a task, greater anxiety when completing a task, and impaired concentration (Bandura, 1997; Beaudoin & Desrichard, 2011; Lalitha & Aswartha Reddy, 2021). The present study's findings also contrasted with Cipolli et al. (1996) and Sawin (2021) who found that depression has been negatively related with MSE scores. These results might suggest that there are other factors to consider when examining MSE, such as stereotype threat, which was not a variable examined in the present study.

Limitations and Suggestions for Future Research

The present study was subject to four primary limitations: 1) a lack of diversity in the sample, 2) recruiting participants via MTurk, 3) survey formatting, and 4) study formatting.

Speaking to the first limitation, despite choosing to recruit through MTurk to increase the diversity of participants compared to data collection in Montana, most participants identified as female (66.8%), Caucasian (65.6%), and achieved higher than a high school education (91.5%). Additionally, 15% of the sample indicated a potential positive diagnosis of generalized anxiety disorder and 15% indicated a potential positive diagnosis of major depressive disorder. This is

slightly lower than the amount of age 55+ adults that have reportedly been diagnosed with a mental health disorder (20%; World Health Organization, 2017). This difference might illustrate that our sample was not indicative of the broader older adult population.

This lack of variation could decrease the external validity of this study's findings. Future research should retest these hypotheses with a larger and more diverse sample to increase the ability to generalize results. Additionally, future research should conduct cross-cultural research to examine if the cultural/societal beliefs (e.g., Western cultures such as the United States compared to Eastern cultures such as China) regarding older age influence MSE. Some cultures, such as Eastern cultures, believe that with age comes increased wisdom and regard in society, which greatly contrasts with the belief some Western cultures hold that older adults are a burden due to their increasing care needs.

Second, the sample for the present study was collected through an online survey platform. Although this did help to protect participants' health and well-being during the COVID-19 pandemic, the choice to recruit participants in this way affects the external validity of the findings, as some older adults might not be represented through this collection method. The present study should be replicated using in-person data collection to address the concern that the data could have low external validity due to its online characteristic. In addition, due to the online survey software, a smaller range in age could not be designated, and individuals who might not be considered as "older adults" (e.g., those age 55 - 65) were included. Future research should replicate this study with a smaller range of ages and examine possible changes that can occur in different age ranges (e.g., compare 55 - 65-year-old individuals with those age 85 - 95).

It is also important to note that 108 participants were excluded because they did not complete the entire survey, which might reflect a limitation of the length of the survey.

Additionally, 34 participants were excluded because their reported age was younger than 55. Although a MTurk filter was used to ensure that only participants ages 55 and older were able to access the study, it is possible that some participants have found ways to program a bypass to the filter to complete the survey for the monetary incentive. Thus, it is recommended that future research using MTurk plan to recruit almost double the participants that an a priori power analysis suggests are needed for the study and take time to screen data for completion and quality, as suggested by Chmielewski and Kucker (2019).

Third, despite no indications of issues in the pilot data collected at the beginning of this study, there appeared to be confusion from participants about what to enter in the empty for race and ethnicity. Although the researcher chose a text box in order to not confine participants' indication of their identity in a multiple-choice question, the confusion limited the present study's ability to get accurate estimates of participants' racial and ethnic identities. For example, some participants typed in "USA" and for ethnicity, some participants typed in answers that would better identify as race (e.g., "White"). One alternative to address this limitation in future studies would be to provide options for participants to choose from, as well as a text box to provide an opportunity to write in the option that feels most accurate to their identity.

Similarly, this also appeared to be an issue for the item asking about leisure activity participation. Again, despite no indication of issues in the pilot data collected at the beginning of the study, some participants interpreted the question to ask for the amount of time spent doing the activities or a ratio (e.g., 40% completing social activities, 40% completing cognitive activities, 10% completing physical activities), compared to the number of activities. This issue might be a reason why the CR factors surprisingly did not yield significant results in Steps 2 or 3 in the model. Thus, this limitation leaves the question about leisure activity participation's role in

a model with MSE to remain open and not fully answered. Future research should replicate the study with adjustments to the question wording and answer options for these questions to get a more accurate depiction of participants' experience.

Moreover, there appeared to be a survey-software error in the skip logic for the demographic data. The survey software was programmed to skip a follow-up question (e.g., "if you answered yes above...") if participants indicated "no." However, an error in the software skipped the follow-up question for some, but also caused some of the individuals that indicated "no" to still see the follow-up question. Additionally, for one follow-up item that asked about whether an individual who endured an unconscious episode was treated by a professional, some of the individuals who indicated "yes" were not taken to the follow-up question. Thus, the reported number of individuals that saw the follow-up questions asking about the experience of current effects due to a history of a serious illness, mood/psychiatric condition, and unconscious episode do not match the number of individuals that indicated "yes" on the initial question. Future researchers using Qualtrics should consult with a support team to ensure this error does not happen in future data collection.

Finally, although Digit Span utilizes two trials per digit string amount, the MSE questionnaire only allowed participants to answer based on one trial opportunity. Future research should include items that ask about participants' ability and confidence on a second trial opportunity. Additionally, to better allow the present study's MSE measure a measure of working memory MSE, future research should revise the wording of the MSE measure items to say the following: "If I was briefly shown a string of 3 numbers (e.g., 2-4-8), I could remember and repeat all the numbers in the same order they appeared immediately after seeing them." By implementing this change in wording, the item clarifies the immediate time frame in which

participants will be asked to recall the digit string, which better encompasses the nature of a working memory task. Additionally, using a less verbally-loaded task might be able to speak to the relation between working memory and MSE in a population such as those with dyslexia. Further, future research is encouraged to examine the differences between using a 20% confidence cut-off score for the MSE scoring criteria compared to using a higher value of confidence (e.g., 50%, 80%, 90%). The present study also only used one working memory task as a measure of working memory ability. There are several other working memory tasks, such as the letter-number sequencing and arithmetic subtests on the WAIS-IV. One suggestion for future would be to examine the relation between MSE and an index score of working memory, which would be comprised of the scores from the combined performance on the digit span, arithmetic, and letter-number sequencing WAIS-IV subtests. In this way, working memory would not be measured by just one task, but by multiple tasks that have been found to measure into working memory (Wechsler, 2008).

Conclusion

The present study is the first to examine the relation between MSE and working memory in concert with existing variables that have been deemed to contribute to one's CR and reduce one's risk for dementia and/or prolong cognitive functioning in the face of existing cognitive decline. Findings indicate the important role that MSE might play in working memory ability. Further, this study can be used as initial evidence to support interventions, such as psychoeducation about age-related stereotype threat and normal age-related memory changes, that can work to increase MSE, and subsequently — as our study revealed — working memory ability. Additionally, the present study can act as a first step to examining and supporting the role of MSE within the CR framework, given the unique amount of variance that MSE explained to

working memory variance that was not explained by the existing CR factors that the literature recognizes.

References

- Aartsen, M. J., Smits, C. H. M., van Tilburg, T., Knipscheer, K. C. P. M., & Deeg, D. J. H. (2002).

 Activity in older adults: Cause or consequence of cognitive functioning? A longitudinal study on everyday activities and cognitive performance in older adults. *The Journals of Gerontology Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, *57*(2), P153–P162.

 https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/57.2.P153
- Aben, B., Stapert, S., & Blokland, A. (2012). About the distinction between working memory and short-term memory. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 3. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2012.00301
- Alzheimer's Society. (2019). *Our history: 40 years of Alzheimer's Society*. Alzheimer's Society. https://www.alzheimers.org.uk/sites/default/files/2019-10/Alzheimers%20Society%20timeline.pdf
- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders*(fifth edition). American Psychiatric Association.

 https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.books.9780890425596
- Andel, R., Crowe, M., Pedersen, N. L., Mortimer, J., Crimmins, E., Johansson, B., & Gatz, M. (2005).

 Complexity of work and risk of Alzheimer's disease: A population-based study of Swedish twins. *The Journals of Gerontology Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 60(5), P251–P258. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/60.5.P251
- Bandura, A. (1989). Regulation of cognitive processes through perceived self-efficacy.

 *Developmental Psychology, 25(5), 729–735. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.25.5.729

 Bandura, A. (1997). *Self-efficacy: The exercise of control. W.H. Freeman.

- Barnes, D. E., & Yaffe, K. (2011). The projected effect of risk factor reduction on Alzheimer's disease prevalence. *The Lancet Neurology*, 10(9), 819–828. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(11)70072-2
- Beaudoin, M., & Desrichard, O. (2011). Are memory self-efficacy and memory performance related?

 A meta-analysis. *Psychological Bulletin*, *137*(2), 211–241. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0022106
- Bennett, D. A., Schneider, J. A., Tang, Y., Arnold, S. E., & Wilson, R. S. (2006). The effect of social networks on the relation between Alzheimer's disease pathology and level of cognitive function in old people: A longitudinal cohort study. *The Lancet Neurology*, *5*(5), 406–412. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(06)70417-3
- Berry, J. M., West, R. L., & Dennehey, D. M. (1989). Reliability and validity of the Memory Self-Efficacy Questionnaire. *Developmental Psychology*, 25(5), 701–713. https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.25.5.701
- Biringer, E., Mykletun, A., Dahl, A. A., Smith, A. D., Engedal, K., Nygaard, H. A., & Lund, A. (2005). The association between depression, anxiety, and cognitive function in the elderly general population—The Hordaland Health Study. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 20(10), 989–997. https://doi.org/10.1002/gps.1390
- Bomyea, J., Lang, A., Craske, M. G., Chavira, D. A., Sherbourne, C. D., Rose, R. D., Golinelli, D., Campbell-Sills, L., Welch, S. S., Sullivan, G., Bystritsky, A., Roy-Byrne, P., & Stein, M. B. (2015). Course of symptom change during anxiety treatment: Reductions in anxiety and depression in patients completing the Coordinated Anxiety Learning and Management program. *Psychiatry Research*, 229(1–2), 133–142. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2015.07.056
- Boyle, R., Knight, S. P., De Looze, C., Carey, D., Scarlett, S., Stern, Y., Robertson, I. H., Kenny, R. A., & Whelan, R. (2021). Verbal intelligence is a more robust cross-sectional measure of

- cognitive reserve than level of education in healthy older adults. *Alzheimer's Research & Therapy*, *13*(1), 128. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13195-021-00870-z
- Burton, C., Campbell, P., Jordan, K., Strauss, V., & Mallen, C. (2012). The association of anxiety and depression with future dementia diagnosis: A case-control study in primary care. *Family Practice*, 30(1), 25–30. https://doi.org/10.1093/fampra/cms044
- Caselli, R. J., Dueck, A. C., Locke, D. E. C., Baxter, L. C., Woodruff, B. K., & Geda, Y. E. (2015). Sex-Based memory advantages and cognitive aging: A challenge to the cognitive reserve construct? *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, 21(2), 95–104. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1355617715000016
- Cauvin, S., Moulin, C. J. A., Souchay, C., Kliegel, M., & Schnitzspahn, K. M. (2019). Prospective memory predictions in aging: Increased overconfidence in older adults. *Experimental Aging Research*, 45(5), 436–459. https://doi.org/10.1080/0361073X.2019.1664471
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention [CDC]. (2015). Census questions on disability endorsed by the Washington Group. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.

 https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/washington_group/WG_Short_Measure_on_Disability.pdf
- Chmielewski, M., & Kucker, S. C. (2020). An MTurk crisis? Shifts in data quality and the impact on study results. *Social Psychological and Personality Science*, *11*(4), 464–473. https://doi.org/10.1177/1948550619875149
- Christensen, H., Griffiths, K., Mackinnon, A., & Jacomb, P. (1997). A quantitative review of cognitive deficits in depression and Alzheimer-type dementia. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, *3*(6), 631–651. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1355617797006310

- Cipolli, C., Neri, M., De Vreese, L. P., Pinelli, M., Rubichi, S., & Lalla, M. (1996). The influence of depression on memory and metamemory in the elderly. *Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics*, 23(2), 111–127. https://doi.org/10.1016/0167-4943(96)00712-1
- Cowan, N. (2008). Chapter 20: What are the differences between long-term, short-term, and working memory? In *Progress in Brain Research* (Vol. 169, pp. 323–338). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0079-6123(07)00020-9
- Cowan, N. (2014). Working memory underpins cognitive development, learning, and education. *Educational Psychology Review*, 26(2), 197–223. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10648-013-9246-y
- Crimmins, E. M. (2015). Lifespan and healthspan: Past, present, and promise. *The Gerontologist*, 55(6), 901–911. https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gnv130
- Denis, D. J. (2016). Applied univariate, bivariate, and multivariate statistics. Wiley.
- Desrichard, O., & Köpetz, C. (2005). A threat in the elder: The impact of task-instructions, self-efficacy, and performance expectations on memory performance in the elderly. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, 35(4), 537–552. https://doi.org/10.1002/ejsp.249
- DiNapoli, E. A., Wu, B., & Scogin, F. (2014). Social isolation and cognitive function in Appalachian older adults. *Research on Aging*, *36*(2), 161–179. https://doi.org/10.1177/0164027512470704
- Diniz, B. S., Butters, M. A., Albert, S. M., Dew, M. A., & Reynolds, C. F. (2013). Late-life depression and risk of vascular dementia and Alzheimer's disease: Systematic review and metaanalysis of community-based cohort studies. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 202(5), 329–335. https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.bp.112.118307
- Esiri, M. M., & Chance, S. A. (2012). Cognitive reserve, cortical plasticity, and resistance to Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimer's Research & Therapy*, 4(2), 7. https://doi.org/10.1186/alzrt105

- Evans, D. A., Hebert, L. E., Beckett, L. A., Scherr, P. A., Albert, M. S., Chown, M. J., Pilgrim, D. M., & Taylor, J. O. (1997). Education and other measures of socioeconomic status and risk of incident Alzheimer disease in a defined population of older persons. *Archives of Neurology*, 54(11), 1399–1405. https://doi.org/10.1001/archneur.1997.00550230066019
- Evans, I. E. M., Llewellyn, D. J., Matthews, F. E., Woods, R. T., Brayne, C., & Clare, L. (2019).

 Social isolation, cognitive reserve, and cognition in older people with depression and anxiety.

 Aging & Mental Health, 23(12), 1691–1700. https://doi.org/10.1080/13607863.2018.1506742
- Fisher, G. G., Chacon, M., & Chaffee, D. S. (2019). Theories of cognitive aging and work. In *Work Across the Lifespan* (pp. 17–45). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-812756-8.00002-5
- Fox, J. (2016). Applied regression analysis and generalized linear models (Third Edition). SAGE.
- Fratiglioni, L., Paillard-Borg, S., & Winblad, B. (2004). An active and socially integrated lifestyle in late life might protect against dementia. *The Lancet Neurology*, *3*(6), 343–353. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(04)00767-7
- Fratiglioni, L., & Wang, H.-X. (2007). Brain reserve hypothesis in dementia. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease*, 12(1), 11–22. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-2007-12103
- Fritsch, T., McClendon, M. J., Smyth, K. A., & Ogrocki, P. K. (2002). Effects of educational attainment and occupational status on cognitive and functional decline in persons with Alzheimer-type dementia. *International Psychogeriatrics*, *14*(4), 347–363. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1041610202008554
- Fritsch, T., Smyth, K. A., Debanne, S. M., Petot, G. J., & Friedland, R. P. (2005). Participation in novelty-seeking leisure activities and Alzheimer's disease. *Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry and Neurology*, *18*(3), 134–141. https://doi.org/10.1177/0891988705277537

- García-Peña, C., Wagner, F. A., Sánchez-García, S., Espinel-Bermúdez, C., Juárez-Cedillo, T., Pérez-Zepeda, M., Arango-Lopera, V., Franco-Marina, F., Ramírez-Aldana, R., & Gallo, J. J. (2013). Late-life depressive symptoms: Prediction models of change. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 150(3), 886–894. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2013.05.007
- Geerlings, M. I., Deeg, D. J. H., Penninx, B. W. J. H., Schmand, B., Jonker, C., Bouter, L. M., & Van Tilburg, W. (1999). Cognitive reserve and mortality in dementia: The role of cognition, functional ability, and depression. *Psychological Medicine*, 29(5), 1219–1226. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291799008867
- George, P.A. (2013). Protective factors against the clinical onset of Alzheimer's disease: A case for cognitive reserve (Doctoral Dissertation).
- Ghaffar, O., Fiati, M., & Feinstein, A. (2012). Occupational attainment as a marker of cognitive reserve in multiple sclerosis. *PLoS ONE*, 7(10), e47206.

 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0047206
- Hartlage, S., Alloy, L. B., Vázquez, C., & Dykman, B. (1993). Automatic and effortful processing in depression. *Psychological Bulletin*, 113(2), 247–278. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.113.2.247
- He, Wan, Goodkind, Daniel, & Kowal, Paul. (2016). *An aging world: 2015*. National Institute on Aging. https://www.census.gov/content/dam/Census/library/publications/2016/demo/p95-16-1.pdf
- Hertzog, C., Dixon, R. A., & Hultsch, D. F. (1990). Relationships between metamemory, memory predictions, and memory task performance in adults. *Psychology and Aging*, *5*(2), 215–227. https://doi.org/10.1037/0882-7974.5.2.215

- Hertzog, C., Dixon, R. A., Schulenberg, J. E., & Hultsch, D. F. (1987). On the differentiation of memory beliefs from memory knowledge: The factor structure of the metamemory in adulthood scale. *Experimental Aging Research*, 13(2), 101–107. https://doi.org/10.1080/03610738708259308
- Hertzog, C. & Hultsch, D. (2000). Metacognition in adulthood and old age. In F. I. M. Craik & Salthouse, T. A. (Eds.), *Handbook of aging and cognition* (2nd ed., pp. 417–466). Erlbaum.
- Hess, T. M. (2005). Memory and aging in context. *Psychological Bulletin*, *131*(3), 383–406. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.131.3.383
- Hess, T. M., & Hinson, J. T. (2006). Age-related variation in the influences of aging stereotypes on memory in adulthood. *Psychology and Aging*, 21(3), 621–625. https://doi.org/10.1037/0882-7974.21.3.621
- Ho, Y. & Chan, A. S. (2005). Comparing the effects of mahing playing and reading on cognitive reserve of the elderly. *Journal of Psychology in Chinese Societies*, 6(1), 5–26.
- Hoffman, B., & Schraw, G. (2009). The influence of self-efficacy and working memory capacity on problem-solving efficiency. *Learning and Individual Differences*, 19(1), 91–100. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lindif.2008.08.001
- Inzlicht, M., & Schmader, T. (Eds.). (2012). *Stereotype threat: Theory, process, and application*. Oxford University Press.
- Irak, M., & Çapan, D. (2018). Beliefs about memory as a mediator of relations between metacognitive beliefs and actual memory performance. *The Journal of General Psychology*, *145*(1), 21–44. https://doi.org/10.1080/00221309.2017.1411682
- Iwasa, H., Yoshida, Y., Kai, I., Suzuki, T., Kim, H., & Yoshida, H. (2012). Leisure activities and cognitive function in elderly community-dwelling individuals in Japan: A 5-year prospective

- cohort study. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 72(2), 159–164. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychores.2011.10.002
- Jonaitis, E., La Rue, A., Mueller, K. D., Koscik, R. L., Hermann, B., & Sager, M. A. (2013).

 Cognitive activities and cognitive performance in middle-aged adults at risk for Alzheimer's disease. *Psychology and Aging*, 28(4), 1004–1014. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0034838
- Kim, H.-J., Min, J.-Y., & Min, K.-B. (2020). The association between longest-held lifetime occupation and late-life cognitive impairment: Korean Longitudinal Study of Aging (2006–2016). *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *17*(17), 6270. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17176270
- Klencklen, G., Banta Lavenex, P., Brandner, C., & Lavenex, P. (2017). Working memory decline in normal aging: Is it really worse in space than in color? *Learning and Motivation*, *57*, 48–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lmot.2017.01.007
- Krell-Roesch, J., Vemuri, P., Pink, A., Roberts, R. O., Stokin, G. B., Mielke, M. M., Christianson, T. J. H., Knopman, D. S., Petersen, R. C., Kremers, W. K., & Geda, Y. E. (2017). Association between mentally stimulating activities in late life and the outcome of incident mild cognitive impairment, with an analysis of the APOE ε4 Genotype. *JAMA Neurology*, 74(3), 332. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaneurol.2016.3822
- Kroenke, K., & Spitzer, R. L. (2002). The PHQ-9: A new depression diagnostic and severity measure. *Psychiatric Annals*, 32(9), 509–515. https://doi.org/10.3928/0048-5713-20020901-06
- Kroenke, K., Strine, T. W., Spitzer, R. L., Williams, J. B. W., Berry, J. T., & Mokdad, A. H. (2009).

 The PHQ-8 as a measure of current depression in the general population. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 114(1–3), 163–173. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2008.06.026

- Kuhn, D. (2000). Metacognitive development. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 9(5), 178–181. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8721.00088
- Lachman, M. E. (Ed.). (1993). Planning and control processes across the life span. Erlbaum.
- Lalitha, K. & Aswartha Reddy, A. (2021). Everyday memory self-efficacy and self-reported health among elderly persons. *Indian Journal of Gerontology*, *35*(3), 360–374.
- Leung, G. T. Y., Fung, A. W. T., Tam, C. W. C., Lui, V. W. C., Chiu, H. F. K., Chan, W. M., & Lam,
 L. C. W. (2011). Examining the association between late-life leisure activity participation and
 global cognitive decline in community-dwelling elderly Chinese in Hong Kong. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 26(1), 39–47. https://doi.org/10.1002/gps.2478
- Lezak, M. D. (Ed.). (2012). Neuropsychological assessment (5th ed). Oxford University Press.
- Lindstrom, H. A., Fritsch, T., Petot, G., Smyth, K. A., Chen, C. H., Debanne, S. M., Lerner, A. J., & Friedland, R. P. (2005). The relationships between television viewing in midlife and the development of Alzheimer's disease in a case-control study. *Brain and Cognition*, *58*(2), 157–165. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bandc.2004.09.020
- Lukasik, K. M., Waris, O., Soveri, A., Lehtonen, M., & Laine, M. (2019). The relationship of anxiety and stress with working memory performance in a large non-depressed sample. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 10, 4. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.00004
- Maloney, E. A., Sattizahn, J. R., & Beilock, S. L. (2014). Anxiety and cognition. *WIREs Cognitive Science*, 5(4), 403–411. https://doi.org/10.1002/wcs.1299
- Mäntylä, T., Rönnlund, M., & Kliegel, M. (2010). Components of executive functioning in metamemory. *Applied Neuropsychology*, *17*(4), 289–298. https://doi.org/10.1080/09084282.2010.525090

- Mashinchi, G. M., Cotter, K. A., & Williams, G. W. (2021). Is online data equivalent to in-person data?: Evidence from the digit span task. *Internal University of Montana Report: Unpublished*.
- Mashinchi, G. M. & Ravesloot, C. (2021). Memory self-efficacy and community participation. *Internal University of Montana Report: Unpublished.*
- McCabe, D. P., Roediger, H. L., McDaniel, M. A., Balota, D. A., & Hambrick, D. Z. (2010). The relationship between working memory capacity and executive functioning: Evidence for a common executive attention construct. *Neuropsychology*, 24(2), 222–243.
 https://doi.org/10.1037/a0017619
- McDonald-miszczak, L., Gould, O. N., & Tychynski, D. (1999). Metamemory predictors of prospective and retrospective memory performance. *The Journal of General Psychology*, *126*(1), 37–52. https://doi.org/10.1080/00221309909595350
- Medalia, A. (2002). Attention training procedures. In *Encyclopedia of Psychotherapy* (pp. 131–137). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B0-12-343010-0/00017-9
- Meeks, J. T., Hicks, J. L., & Marsh, R. L. (2007). Metacognitive awareness of event-based prospective memory. *Consciousness and Cognition*, *16*(4), 997–1004. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.concog.2006.09.005
- Messerer, M., Johansson, S.-E., & Wolk, A. (2001). Use of dietary supplements and natural remedies increased dramatically during the 1990s. *Journal of Internal Medicine*, 250(2), 160–166. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2796.2001.00872.x
- Miech, R. A., Breitner, J. C. S., Zandi, P. P., Khachaturian, A. S., Anthony, J. C., & Mayer, L. (2002). Incidence of AD may decline in the early 90s for men, later for women: The Cache County study. *Neurology*, 58(2), 209–218. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.58.2.209

- Miyake, A., & Shah, P. (Eds.). (1999). *Models of Working Memory: Mechanisms of Active Maintenance and Executive Control* (1st ed.). Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781139174909
- Murphy, M., & O'Leary, E. (2009). Depression, cognitive reserve, and memory performance in older adults. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 25(7), 665–671. https://doi.org/10.1002/gps.2404
- Nichols, E., Szoeke, C. E. I., Vollset, S. E., Abbasi, N., Abd-Allah, F., Abdela, J., Aichour, M. T. E.,
 Akinyemi, R. O., Alahdab, F., Asgedom, S. W., Awasthi, A., Barker-Collo, S. L., Baune, B. T.,
 Béjot, Y., Belachew, A. B., Bennett, D. A., Biadgo, B., Bijani, A., Bin Sayeed, M. S., ...
 Murray, C. J. L. (2019). Global, regional, and national burden of Alzheimer's disease and other
 dementias, 1990–2016: A systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. *The Lancet Neurology*, 18(1), 88–106. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(18)30403-4
- Niti, M., Yap, K.-B., Kua, E.-H., Tan, C.-H., & Ng, T.-P. (2008). Physical, social, and productive leisure activities, cognitive decline, and interaction with APOE-ε4 genotype in Chinese older adults. *International Psychogeriatrics*, 20(02). https://doi.org/10.1017/S1041610207006655
- Oliveira, G. M. de, Cachioni, M., Falcão, D., Batistoni, S., Lopes, A., Guimarães, V., Lima-Silva, T. B., Neri, A. L., & Yassuda, M. S. (2015). Relationships between episodic memory performance prediction and sociodemographic variables among healthy older adults. *Dementia & Neuropsychologia*, 9(1), 58–63. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1980-57642015DN91000008
- O'Shea, D. M., Fieo, R. A., Hamilton, J. L., Zahodne, L. B., Manly, J. J., & Stern, Y. (2015).

 Examining the association between late-life depressive symptoms, cognitive function, and brain volumes in the context of cognitive reserve: Depressive symptoms, cognition, and brain volumes

- in the context of CR. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, *30*(6), 614–622. https://doi.org/10.1002/gps.4192
- Park, S., Choi, B., Choi, C., Kang, J. M., & Lee, J.-Y. (2019). Relationship between education, leisure activities, and cognitive functions in older adults. *Aging & Mental Health*, 23(12), 1651–1660. https://doi.org/10.1080/13607863.2018.1512083
- Pearman, A., & Trujillo, A. (2013). Changes in memory prediction accuracy: Age and performance effects. *Educational Gerontology*, *39*(7), 467–475. https://doi.org/10.1080/03601277.2012.701132
- Qiu, C., Karp, A., von Strauss, E., Winblad, B., Fratiglioni, L., & Bellander, T. (2003). Lifetime principal occupation and risk of Alzheimer's disease in the Kungsholmen project. *American Journal of Industrial Medicine*, 43(2), 204–211. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajim.10159
- Randolph, J. J. (2018). Positive neuropsychology: The science and practice of promoting cognitive health. *Applied Neuropsychology: Adult*, 25(4), 287–294. https://doi.org/10.1080/23279095.2018.1457465
- Robinson, O. J., Vytal, K., Cornwell, B. R., & Grillon, C. (2013). The impact of anxiety upon cognition: Perspectives from human threat of shock studies. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2013.00203
- Rodriguez, F. S., Zheng, L., Chui, H. C., & Aging Brain: Vasculature, Ischemia, and Behavior Study. (2019). psychometric characteristics of cognitive reserve: how high education might improve certain cognitive abilities in aging. *Dementia and Geriatric Cognitive Disorders*, 47(4–6), 335–344. https://doi.org/10.1159/000501150
- Santabárbara, J., Lipnicki, D. M., Olaya, B., Villagrasa, B., Bueno-Notivol, J., Nuez, L., López-Antón, R., & Gracia-García, P. (2020). Does anxiety increase the risk of all-cause dementia? An

- updated meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *Journal of Clinical Medicine*, 9(6), 1791. https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm9061791
- Sattler, C., Toro, P., Schönknecht, P., & Schröder, J. (2012). Cognitive activity, education and socioeconomic status as preventive factors for mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease. *Psychiatry Research*, *196*(1), 90–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2011.11.012
- Sawin, K. G. (2021). Painting a pretty picture: The role of social desirability in the memory self-efficacy of young and older adults. *Butler Journal of Undergraduate Research*, 7, 272–286.
- Scarmeas, N., Levy, G., Tang, M.-X., Manly, J., & Stern, Y. (2001). Influence of leisure activity on the incidence of Alzheimer's Disease. *Neurology*, *57*(12), 2236–2242.

 https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.57.12.2236
- Scarmeas, N., Zarahn, E., Anderson, K. E., Habeck, C. G., Hilton, J., Flynn, J., Marder, K. S., Bell, K. L., Sackeim, H. A., Van Heertum, R. L., Moeller, J. R., & Stern, Y. (2003). Association of life activities with cerebral blood flow in Alzheimer disease: implications for the cognitive reserve hypothesis. *Archives of Neurology*, 60(3), 359. https://doi.org/10.1001/archneur.60.3.359
- Scott, J. G., Krull, K. R., Williamson, D. J. G., Adams, R. L., & Iverson, G. L. (1997). Oklahoma premorbid intelligence estimation (OPIE): Utilization in clinical samples. *The Clinical Neuropsychologist*, *11*(2), 146–154. https://doi.org/10.1080/13854049708407043
- Seidler, A. (2004). Psychosocial work factors and dementia. *Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 61(12), 962–971. https://doi.org/10.1136/oem.2003.012153
- Semenova, V., & Stadtlander, L. (2016). Death anxiety, depression, and coping in family caregivers.

 Journal of Social, Behavioral, and Health Sciences, 10(1).

 https://doi.org/10.5590/JSBHS.2016.10.1.05

- Serra, M. J., Dunlosky, J., & Hertzog, C. (2008). Do older adults show less confidence in their monitoring of learning? *Experimental Aging Research*, 34(4), 379–391.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/03610730802271898
- Shankar, A., Hamer, M., McMunn, A., & Steptoe, A. (2013). Social isolation and loneliness:

 Relationships with cognitive function during 4 years of follow-up in the English Longitudinal Study of Ageing. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 75(2), 161–170.

 https://doi.org/10.1097/PSY.0b013e31827f09cd
- Simon, C., & Schmitter-Edgecombe, M. (2016). The role of cognitive reserve and memory self-efficacy in compensatory strategy use: A structural equation approach. *Journal of Clinical and Experimental Neuropsychology*, *38*(6), 685–699.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/13803395.2016.1150426
- Smyth, K. A., Fritsch, T., Cook, T. B., McClendon, M. J., Santillan, C. E., & Friedland, R. P. (2004). Worker functions and traits associated with occupations and the development of AD. *Neurology*, 63(3), 498–503. https://doi.org/10.1212/01.WNL.0000133007.87028.09
- Sobral, M., & Paúl, C. (2013). Education, leisure activities and cognitive and functional ability of Alzheimer's disease patients: A follow-up study. *Dementia & Neuropsychologia*, 7(2), 181–189. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1980-57642013DN70200008
- Sobral, M., Pestana, M. H., & Paúl, C. (2015). Cognitive reserve and the severity of Alzheimer's disease. *Arquivos de Neuro-Psiquiatria*, 73(6), 480–486. https://doi.org/10.1590/0004-282X20150044
- Spitzer, R. L., Kroenke, K., Williams, J. B. W., & Löwe, B. (2006). A brief measure for assessing generalized anxiety disorder: The GAD-7. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, *166*(10), 1092. https://doi.org/10.1001/archinte.166.10.1092

- Staekenborg, S. S., Kelly, N., Schuur, J., Koster, P., Scherder, E., Tielkes, C. E. M., Scheltens, P., & Claus, J. J. (2020). Education as proxy for cognitive reserve in a large elderly memory clinic: 'Window of benefit.' *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease*, 76(2), 671–679. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-191332
- Steele, C. M., & Aronson, J. (1995). Stereotype threat and the intellectual test performance of African Americans. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 69(5), 797–811. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.69.5.797
- Steinberg, S. I., Negash, S., Sammel, M. D., Bogner, H., Harel, B. T., Livney, M. G., McCoubrey, H., Wolk, D. A., Kling, M. A., & Arnold, S. E. (2013). Subjective memory complaints, cognitive performance, and psychological factors in healthy older adults. *American Journal of Alzheimer's Disease & Other Dementiasr*, 28(8), 776–783. https://doi.org/10.1177/1533317513504817
- Stern, Y. (1994). Influence of education and occupation on the incidence of Alzheimer's disease.

 JAMA: The Journal of the American Medical Association, 271(13), 1004–1010.

 https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.271.13.1004
- Stern, Y. (2006). Cognitive reserve and Alzheimer disease. *Alzheimer Disease & Associated Disorders*, 20(2), 112–117. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.wad.0000213815.20177.19
- Stern, Y. (2012). Cognitive reserve in ageing and Alzheimer's disease. *The Lancet Neurology*, *11*(11), 1006–1012. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(12)70191-6
- Stern, Y. (2013). Cognitive reserve: Implications for assessment and intervention. *Folia Phoniatrica* et Logopaedica, 65(2), 49–54. https://doi.org/10.1159/000353443
- Stern, Y., Albert, S., Tang, M.-X., & Tsai, W.-Y. (1999). Rate of memory decline in AD is related to education and occupation: Cognitive reserve? *Neurology*, *53*(9), 1942–1942. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.53.9.1942

- Suemoto, C. K., Bertola, L., Grinberg, L. T., Leite, R. E. P., Rodriguez, R. D., Santana, P. H., Pasqualucci, C. A., Jacob-Filho, W., & Nitrini, R. (2022). Education, but not occupation, is associated with cognitive impairment: The role of cognitive reserve in a sample from a low-to-middle-income country. *Alzheimer's & Dementia*, alz.12542. https://doi.org/10.1002/alz.12542
- Trieber, K. (2010). Relationship of cognitive reserve and decline in Alzheimer's disease: A population study (Doctoral Dissertation).
- Turvey, C. L., Schultz, S., Arndt, S., Wallace, R. B., & Herzog, R. (2000). Memory complaint in a community sample aged 70 and older. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 48(11), 1435–1441. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-5415.2000.tb02634.x
- Vance, D. E., Graham, M. A., Fazeli, P. L., Heaton, K., & Moneyham, L. (2012). An overview of nonpathological geroneuropsychology: Implications for nursing practice and research. *Journal of Neuroscience Nursing*, 44(1), 43–53. https://doi.org/10.1097/JNN.0b013e31823ae48b
- Vemuri, P., Lesnick, T. G., Przybelski, S. A., Machulda, M., Knopman, D. S., Mielke, M. M., Roberts, R. O., Geda, Y. E., Rocca, W. A., Petersen, R. C., & Jack, C. R. (2014). Association of lifetime intellectual enrichment with cognitive decline in the older population. *JAMA Neurology*, 71(8), 1017. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaneurol.2014.963
- Verghese, J., Lipton, R. B., Katz, M. J., Hall, C. B., Derby, C. A., Kuslansky, G., Ambrose, A. F., Sliwinski, M., & Buschke, H. (2003). Leisure activities and the risk of dementia in the elderly.

 New England Journal of Medicine, 348(25), 2508–2516. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa022252
- Wechsler, D. (2008). WAIS-IV technical and interpretive manual. Pearson/PsychCorp.
- West, R. L., Dennehy-Basile, D., & Norris, M. P. (1996). Memory self-evaluation: The effects of age and experience. *Aging, Neuropsychology, and Cognition*, *3*(1), 67–83. https://doi.org/10.1080/13825589608256613

- Wilson, R. S. (2002). Participation in cognitively stimulating activities and risk of incident Alzheimer disease. *JAMA*, 287(6), 742. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.287.6.742
- World Health Organization [WHO]. (2017). *Mental health of older adults*. World Health Organization. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/mental-health-of-older-adults
- Zahodne, L. B., Nowinski, C. J., Gershon, R. C., & Manly, J. J. (2015). Self-efficacy buffers the relationship between educational disadvantage and executive functioning. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, 21(4), 297–304.
 https://doi.org/10.1017/S1355617715000193
- Zamani, A. & Pouratashi, M. (2018). The relationship between academic performance and working memory, self-efficacy belief, and test anxiety. *Journal of School Psychology*, 6(4), 25–44. https://doi.org/10.22098/jsp.2018.603
- Zlotnik, G., & Vansintjan, A. (2019). Memory: An extended definition. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 10, 2523. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.02523

Table 1

Condition	Item	Yes Response Rate (Mean Confidence Percentage)
<u>Forward</u>	If I was briefly shown a string of 3 numbers (e.g., 2-4-8), I could remember and repeat all the numbers in the same order they appeared.	195 (84.80%)
	If I was briefly shown a string of 5 numbers (e.g., 2-4-8), I could remember and repeat all the numbers in the same order they appeared.	161 (72.36%)
	If I was briefly shown a string of 7 numbers (e.g., 2-4-8), I could remember and repeat all the numbers in the same order they appeared.	106 (59.72%)
	If I was briefly shown a string of 9 numbers (e.g., 2-4-8), I could remember and repeat all the numbers in the same order they appeared.	48 (62.40%)
Backward	If I was briefly shown a string of 2 numbers, I could remember and repeat all the numbers in the reverse order that they appeared (e.g., if I see 1-4, I could remember it as 4-1).	197 (90.25%)
	If I was briefly shown a string of 4 numbers, I could remember and repeat all the numbers in the reverse order that they appeared (e.g., if I see 1-4, I could remember it as 4-1).	151 (75.96%)
	If I was briefly shown a string of 6 numbers, I could remember and repeat all the numbers in the reverse order that they appeared (e.g., if I see 1-4, I could remember it as 4-1).	77 (62.21%)
	If I was briefly shown a string of 8 numbers, I could remember and repeat all the numbers in the reverse order that they appeared (e.g., if I see 1-4, I could remember it as 4-1).	42 (62.14%)

Sequencing	If I was briefly shown a string of 3 numbers, I could remember and recall all the numbers in the order of least in value to greatest in value.	188 (82.77%)
	If I was briefly shown a string of 5 numbers, I could remember and recall all the numbers in the order of least in value to greatest in value.	116 (69.40%)
	If I was briefly shown a string of 7 numbers, I could remember and recall all the numbers in the order of least in value to greatest in value.	50 (62.40%)
	If I was briefly shown a string of 9 numbers, I could remember and recall all the numbers in the order of least in value to greatest in value .	37 (62.97%)

Table 2

Descriptive Statistics (N) of Participants and Measures

•	N	M	SD	Min.	Max.
Age	195 (99.0%)	66.26	5.99	55.00	84.00
Gender	195 (99.0%)				
Male	51 (25.9%)				
Female	144 (73.1%)				
Ethnicity	194 (98.0%)				
Caucasian	173 (89.2%)				
African American	13 (6.7%)				
Other	8 (4.1%)				
Education	195 (99.0%)				
Middle school or less	0 (0.0%)				
Less than high school	2 (1.0%)				
High school/GED	16 (8.1%)				
Some college or technical training	42 (21.3%)				
Associate or technical degree	34 (17.3%)				
Bachelor's degree	57 (28.9%)				
Bachelor's degree +, < Master's degree	11 (5.6%)				
Master's degree	25 (12.7%)				
Master's degree +, < Doctorate degree	3 (1.5%)				
Doctorate degree	5 (2.5%)				

Occupation	195 (99.0%)
Unemployed	21 (10.7%)
Foreman/laborer/farmer/service	8 (4.1%)
Clerical/sales	45 (22.8%)
Professional/technical/ administrative/managerial	121 (61.4%)
Leisure Activity Participation	194 (98.5%)
No	4 (2.0%)
One	6 (3.0%)
Two	30 (15.2%)
Three	154 (78.2%)
Socioeconomic Status (Household)	195 (99.0%)
Socioeconomic Status (Household) Less than \$25,000	195 (99.0%) 23 (11.7%)
, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	· · · · · ·
Less than \$25,000	23 (11.7%)
Less than \$25,000 \$25,000 - \$34, 999	23 (11.7%) 36 (18.3%)
Less than \$25,000 \$25,000 - \$34, 999 \$35,000 - \$49,999	23 (11.7%) 36 (18.3%) 38 (19.3%)
Less than \$25,000 \$25,000 - \$34, 999 \$35,000 - \$49,999 \$50,000 - \$74, 999	23 (11.7%) 36 (18.3%) 38 (19.3%) 46 (23.4%)
Less than \$25,000 \$25,000 - \$34, 999 \$35,000 - \$49,999 \$50,000 - \$74, 999 \$75,000 - \$99,999	23 (11.7%) 36 (18.3%) 38 (19.3%) 46 (23.4%) 25 (12.7%)
Less than \$25,000 \$25,000 - \$34, 999 \$35,000 - \$49,999 \$50,000 - \$74, 999 \$75,000 - \$99,999 \$100,000 - \$149,999	23 (11.7%) 36 (18.3%) 38 (19.3%) 46 (23.4%) 25 (12.7%) 22 (11.2%)
Less than \$25,000 \$25,000 - \$34, 999 \$35,000 - \$49,999 \$50,000 - \$74, 999 \$75,000 - \$99,999 \$100,000 - \$149,999	23 (11.7%) 36 (18.3%) 38 (19.3%) 46 (23.4%) 25 (12.7%) 22 (11.2%)
Less than \$25,000 \$25,000 - \$34, 999 \$35,000 - \$49,999 \$50,000 - \$74, 999 \$75,000 - \$99,999 \$100,000 - \$149,999 \$150,000 or more	23 (11.7%) 36 (18.3%) 38 (19.3%) 46 (23.4%) 25 (12.7%) 22 (11.2%) 5 (2.5%)

Current Effects of Serious Illness (If Endorsed History of Serious Illness)	159 (80.7%)
Yes	34 (21.4%)
No	125 (78.6%)
Neurological Illness	194 (98.5%)
Yes	24 (12.2%)
No	170 (86.3%)
Mood/Psychiatric Conditions	192 (97.5%)
Yes	33 (16.8%)
No	159 (80.7%)
Current Effects from Mood/Psychiatric Condition (If Endorsed Mood/Psychiatric Condition)	153 (77.7%)
Yes	26 (17.0%)
No	127 (83.0%)
Memory Change	193 (98.0%)
Yes	157 (79.7%)
No	36 (18.3%)
History of Substance Use Disorder	193 (97.5%)
Yes	28 (14.2%)
No	164 (83.2%)

Yes	23 (11.7%)
No	170 (86.3%)
History of Unconscious Episode - Treated by Professional (If Endorsed History of Unconscious Episode)	16 (69.6%)
Yes	9 (56.3%)
No	7 (43.7%)
GAD-7	197 (100%)
< 10	167 (84.8.%)
≥ 10	30 (15.2%)
PHQ-8	197 (100%)
< 10	166 (84.3%)
≥ 10	31 (15.7%)
Difficulty with Self-Care	195 (99.0%)
No difficulty	176 (89.3%)
Some difficulty	15 (7.6%)
A lot of difficulty	3 (1.5%)
Cannot do at all	1 (0.5%)
Difficulty Remembering/Concentrating	195 (99.0%)
No difficulty	108 (54.8%)
Some difficulty	82 (41.6%)
A lot of difficulty	5 (2.5%)

Cannot do at all	0 (0.0%)				
Working Memory Ability	197 (100%)	32.17	7.94	7.00	46.00
Total MSE	197 (100%)	6.87	3.05	0.00	12.00

Note. The ns for the following follow-up questions do not match the number of individuals that indicated "yes" on the initial item due to a survey-system error: Current Effects of Serious Illness (If Endorsed History of a Serious Illness), Current Effects from Mood/Psychiatric Condition (If Endorsed Mood/Psychiatric Condition), and History of Unconscious Episode - Treated by Professional (If Endorsed History of Unconscious Episode).

Table 3Bivariate Correlations between Study Variables

	MSE	Working Memory	Leisure Activity	Occupation	Education	Age	Depression
Working Memory	.40***	-	-				
Leisure Activities	.07	.11	-				
Occupation	.05	01	02				
Education	.01	.03	.10	.30***			
Age	.02	09	.01	01	004		
Depression	13	20**	12	17*	10	09	
Anxiety	08	21**	13	13	04	03	.79***

Note. Education refers to educational attainment, Occupation refers to occupational attainment, Leisure Activity refers to leisure activity participation, MSE refers to memory-self efficacy, and Working Memory refers to working memory ability. Significance is two-tailed.

The following variables were transformed (log) before analyses: depression, anxiety, leisure activity participation, and occupation. *p < .05, **p < .01, ***p < .001.

Table 4

Model	Variable	R^2	Std. Error of the Model	R ² Change	β
1*		.05	7.71	-	
	Age				11
	Depression				10
	Anxiety				12
2		.06	7.72	.01	
	Age				11
	Depression				10
	Anxiety				12
	Education				.04
	Occupation				05
	Leisure Activity				.08
3***		.23	7.02	.17	
	Age				11
	Depression				01
	Anxiety				15

MEMORY SELF-EFFICACY, COGNITIVE RESERVE	62
Education	.05
Occupation	06
Leisure Activity	.06
MSE	.42***

Note. MSE refers to memory self-efficacy, Education refers to educational attainment, Occupation refers to occupational attainment, and Leisure Activity refers to leisure activity participation.

The following variables were transformed (log) before analyses: depression, anxiety, leisure activity participation, and occupation.

Model 1: age, depression, and anxiety

Model 2: age, depression, anxiety, educational attainment, occupational attainment, and leisure activity participation

Model 3: age, depression, anxiety, educational attainment, occupational attainment, leisure activity participation, and MSE

Model 1: Adj. $R^2 = .04$, F(3, 190) = 3.41, p = .02. Model 2: Adj. $R^2 = .02$, F(6, 187) = 2.05, Sig. F Change = .56, p = .06. Model 3:

Adj. $R^2 = .23$, F(7, 186) = 7.93, Sig. F Change < .001, p < .001.

* *p* < .05, ** *p* < .01, *** *p* < .001.

Table 5

Regression Model Examining MSE

Variable	R^2	Std. Error of the Model	β
	.03	3.05	
Age			.01
Depression			20
Anxiety			.08
Education			03
Occupation			03
Leisure Activity			06

Note. Education refers to educational attainment, Occupation refers to occupational attainment, and Leisure Activity refers to leisure activity participation.

The following variables were transformed (log) before analyses: depression, anxiety, and occupation.

Model: age, depression, anxiety, leisure activity participation, educational attainment, and occupational attainment.

Model 1: Adj. $R^2 = -.004$, F(6, 187) = 0.87, p = .52.

^{*} p < .05, ** p < .01, *** p < .001.